0+7

WOOA

SID J. WHITE

APR 18 1991 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 76,931

JUAN VICENTE PEREZ SANDOVAL, et al.,

Petitioners,

vs.

BANCO DE COMERCIO, S.A., C.A.,

Respondents.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

TAYLOR, BRION, BUKER & GREENE Attorneys for Petitioners Fourteenth Floor 801 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131-2900 (305) 377-6700

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

Sociedad Financiera de Comercio, C.A., ("Financiera") and Inversiones Credival, C.A., ("Inversiones Credival") sued Juan Vicente Perez Sandoval ("Perez"), Sandy Bay Investments Company, S.A. ("Sandy Bay") and others. ¹ (R, 154) The amended complaint contains 75 pages, 141 paragraphs and twelve counts. (R, 162-247) It addresses a series of transactions and events occurring primarily in Venezuela during the years 1982, 1983, and 1984. The counts characterize the events as fraud (Count I), Civil theft (Count II), conversion (Count III), negligence, (Count IV), breach of fiduciary duty (Counts V and IX), conspiracy (Count VI), unjust enrichment (Count VII), and Rico (Count VIII). Remaining counts sought the imposition of a constructive trust and an injunction. The Complaint does not refer or quote Venezuelan law insofar as it pertains to attorney's fees and costs, nor does it pray for fees and costs on the basis of Venezuelan law. Extensive discovery and a number of hearings were held. The file of the case contains 45 volumes.

The pre trial stipulation reduced the claims to <u>one</u> transaction. The claim was called the "Sandy Bay" transaction. (R. 456) The pre-trial stipulation also provided:

> As to rules of law, the parties agree that Venezuelan law controls the substance of the issues of liability and obligations with respect to the so-called Sandy Bay transaction. (R, 459),

The usual descriptions "R" for the record, "T" for the transcript of the trial held on liability, and "Ex" for the exhibits will be used unless noted otherwise, all emphasis is ours. Two evidentiary hearings were held on the issue of attorney's fees and references to these which are contained in an appendix will be designated by use of the symbol "A".

(a) which codes of Venezuelan law are applicable to the "Sandy Bay" transaction.

and

(d) Whether Venezuelan law provides that the prevailing party in this action is entitled to recover its fees and costs,

(e) Whether prejudgment interest is available under Venezuelan law and, if so, the rate that would apply. (R, 459)

The "Sandy Bay" transaction involved the purchase in March, 1982, of stock in a drilling company. In 1982, Perez owned 80 percent of a Venezuelan company call J.V. Persand y Compañia, C.A. ("Persand") (R, 455). Persand in turn owned Financiera, a Venezuelan finance company, which owned all of the stock of Inversiones Credival, an investment company, (R, 2-3, 253) Inversiones Credival in turn eventually came to own the stock in Morelia, a company created to acquire the stock in the drilling company. (R, 457) Persand also owned Banco. (R, 456) Perez's status with these companies is noted on the following diagram:

Perez

The "Sandy Bay" investment involves the sale by Delmar and Dora Wright of their stock in a Panamanian company named Anson In late 1981, Perez, then a Venezuelan Perforaciones, S.A. resident, decided to increase his empire's interest in the oil drilling business. At the time Inversiones Credival already owned a subsidiary in the oil drilling business which operated on the eastern boundary of Venezuela. (T, 33, R, 457-458)) Perez contacted Wright to negotiate the purchase of the Anson shares which owned 98.5% of a company which owned land and an oil rig on the western coast of Venezuela. (R, 456, T, 35) Perez negotiated a handshake deal with Wright to purchase the shares for 3.5 million dollars, although the value was 10 or 20 times that. (T, 42, 61) The drilling contract owned by the company was in jeopardy because the Wrights were not Venezuelan nationals and were not associated with one; however, ownership by a Venezuelan national would allow the company to obtain new drilling contracts. (T, 79)

During 1981 and 1982 Perez presented the opportunity to purchase the shares to the directors of Inversiones Credival and Financiera but the board turned it down. (T, 35, 48-49, 61, 65) Perez then decided to acquire the shares himself. (T, 62) Perez, thereupon, contacted a drilling company which advised him that it would give him additional drilling contracts. Perez also obtained seven drilling contracts. (T, 79)

In the interim, Perez hired an outstanding management group for the drilling company already owned by Inversiones Credival.

(T, 68) The comfort and confidence provided by this management spurred Perez's associates interest in acquiring an additional drilling company. (T, 68-69) Additionally, Perez discovered that Wright had a company owned which carried out drilling in Colombia, (T, 69) Perez found out that Mr. Wright's Peru and Ecuador. partners were willing to sell their interest in this multinational company and offered it to Inversiones Credival's directors. (T, This would permit a multi-national expansion of Inversiones 70) Credival's holdings. The members rejected the acquisition but requested that Perez sell his rights in the proposed Anson acquisition. (T, 70-71) Perez eventually acceded but requested that the price be negotiated by one or more of the members of the The price was eventually negotiated and approved board. (T, 72) by the directors of Inversiones Credival and Financiera. (T, 73) Morelia, a Panamanian subsidiary of Inversiones Credival was then created to acquire the Anson shares.

On December 11, 1981, Wright and Perez signed a letter agreement stating that Inversiones Credival would purchase the Anson shares for an unstated price with a closing within sixty days. (R, 457, Ex. 11)

Perez then formed Sandy Bay, a Panamanian Company to acquire the Anson shares and sell them to Inversiones Credival. (T, 33) Venezuelan law permitted sales by Panamanian companies to be tax free. (T, 42, 48) Sandy Bay eventually purchased the Anson shares on March 9, 1982. Sandy Bay agreed to pay the Wrights \$3,500,000

and to pay: (i) a \$1.6 million down payment on March 9, 1982; (ii) \$800,000 on March 9, 1983, and (iii) the balance on March 9, 1984.

On the same day, Sandy Bay sold the Anson shares to Morelia, Inversiones Credival's subsidiary, for \$16 million. (T, 81) Perez's profit from the sale was \$12.5 million. (T, 45, 47)

Opinion testimony regarding the applicability and effect of the Venezuelan Banking Code was received. The Banking Code is a general law which governs all credit institution which are the only entities authorized to receive deposits from the public. (T, 146) The code <u>did not govern Inversiones Credival</u>; it only governed Financiera. (T, 166) The code contains what were opined by the experts to include "public order norms", i.e., norms designed to protect the public trust. (T, 147, 183, 222) The particular section of the Banking Code upon which a great deal of emphasis was placed was section 153 which states:

> The following is prohibited <u>to banks or other</u> <u>credit institutions</u> that function under the present law:

> (1) to issue, directly, or indirectly loans, discounts...advances or credits of any type to its president, directors, managers, or other officers or employees except for mortgage loans on their own housing which has been granted in accordance to general plan established for its personal loans guaranteed by their social laws. The totality of these loans may not exceed 10 percent of the paid in capital and reserves of the bank or credit institution referenced. (T, 148)

> (4) to make loans, discounts or rediscounts or to extend credit or security to one and the same natural or legal person in an amount or amounts that exceed in the aggregate 10 percent of the paid in capital plus

reserves of the bank or lending institutions...

(13) are prohibited in selling or purchasing either directly or indirectly assets of any nature from its president, director, managers, secretaries or other officers in the executive level. (T, 148)

These particular sections also represent what are known as good practices. (T, 166)

A violation of Subsections 1, 4, and 13 renders the transaction void. (T, 152) This is known as the concept of absolute nullity. (T, 152) Thus, a venezuelan judge is empowered to declare a nullity, restore the parties to status quo before the transaction, and can set the degree of damages or restitution that is required. (T, 162, 165, 223) In decreeing a nullity a court can issue a judgment based on equivalence requiring the plaintiff to pay, an equivalent sum of the article which the Court adjudicates is a nullity. (T, 165)² Under this doctrine restitution can be ordered and the Plaintiff is required to restore to the defendant to the position that existed before the transaction took place; in this particular case it would require a return of the Anson stock. (T, 166, 185, 201, 202, 239) Venezuelan law, nonetheless, limits the doctrine because restitution is not required if the violation by the Defendant is considered done of "good practices" or "customs". (T, 166, 226) Hence, while restitution on both sides is ordinarily required, where the violation is deemed to be one of the "good practices or

² The remedy of rescission, as we know it, is most akin to this.

customs", balancing or restitution is not required. A nullification also requires the presence of all parties to the transaction before the court. (T, 161, 162) The purchase and sale in this case was between Sandy Bay, a named party and Morelia, a non-party to the action. $(T, 159)^3$

The trial court ruled for Inversiones Credival and Financiera. The pertinent provisions of the final judgment state:

> The form of the "Sandy Bay transaction is 5. On December 11, 1981...Wright not disputed. and...Perez executed a letter agreement stating that [Inversiones] Credival would 80% Anson's shares. purchase of purchase the Anson Credival...did not shares...Instead, on March 9, 1982, Sandy Bay...purchased the shares for \$3.5 million.

> 6. On the same day, Sandy Bay sold the...stock for the sum of \$16 million to Morelia...a 100% subsidiary of Inversiones Credival...By virtue of this transaction...Perez made a <u>personal profit</u> of U.S. \$12.5 million.

> 7. All of the funds used in the purchase of the Anson shares---first by Sandy Bay, followed immediately by Morelia---came from SFC.

> 9. At the end of March of 1982, Sociedad Financiera's total paid in capital and reserves equaled approximately U.S. 26.6. million.

10. The expert accounting testimony...showed that the U.S. 14.6 million provided...for the Sandy Bay transaction was treated on the books Sociedad Financiera and Inversiones Credival as a series of loans from Sociedad Financiera to Credival.

³ It would appear that rescission was not available as at least on indispensable party was not present before the Court, <u>Coast Cities Coaches, Inc. v. Whyte</u>, 130 So. 2d 121 (Fla. 3d DCA, 1961)

12. ...Plaintiffs alleged that the Sandy Bay transaction violated Ordinal 1, 14 and 13 of Article 153 of the Venezuelan General law on Banks...as well as Article 266(4) of the Venezuelan Commercial Code.

13. ...the court determines that Perez violated, or caused violations of, Venezuelan law in a number of respects in connection with the Sandy Bay transaction. The court also finds that the appropriate <u>remedy</u>, under the circumstances of this case, is to order the return of the U.S. \$12,500,000 in profit which Defendant Perez admittedly received from the "Sandy Bay" transaction.⁴

It is therefore...ADJUDGED...

a. The court finds that <u>Plaintiffs</u> recover the sum of U.S. \$12,500,000 from Perez and Sandy Bay...

The judgment did not require upon delivery of the Anson shares to Perez or Sandy Bay.

The issues regarding fees and interest were determined in post-judgment hearings. Evidence was received at two sessions with memoranda submitted afterwards.⁵ Perez and Sandy Bay argued in

⁵ No active stipulation of entitlement was made at trial. Plaintiffs' counsel did state:

Your honor, there are just a couple of preliminary matters I would like to refer to.

Consistently, with my understanding of Florida law, in the event this Court determines, upon the determination of the issues in the main case that either side is entitled to

⁴ It is important to note that presence of the term "remedy" under Florida Conflicts of Laws, the remedial aspects of a case are governed by Florida law. <u>Brown v. Chase</u>, 80 Fla. 703, 86 So. 684 (1920) ("remedies are to be governed by the 'lex fori"), repeated in <u>Wingold v. Horowitz</u>, 292 So. 2d 505, 506 (Fla. 1974) and <u>Goodman</u> v. Olsen, 305 So. 2d 733, 735, (Fla. 1974)

their memorandum that the claim for fees could not be honored because it had not been specifically pleaded. (A, 108-109)

Nonetheless, the evidence developed at the two sessions showed that Venezuelan law is governed by a series of codes, each governing a different aspect of Venezuelan life. For example Venezuela has a Penal Code pertaining to crimes, and their punishment. (A, 27) Venezuela also has a Commerce Code which regulating merchants, maritime commerce, bankruptcies and business associations. (A, 26) The code under which Perez and Sandy Bay were held liable by the final judgment, the <u>Banking Code</u> is separate and distinct from the Code of Civil Procedure. (R, 496).

The evidence regarding the award of attorneys fees, nonetheless, focused on the Code of Civil Procedure. As the name suggests, the <u>code is one of procedure</u>. Its purpose is patently that which the name suggests: <u>to govern procedure</u>. (A, 28)⁶ The

° Financiera's expert characterized the commerce code as providing "substantive law" regarding merchants, maritime commerce and bankruptcies. (A, 2, 26)

attorney's fees it is my understanding that would be separately visited at that time and it won't be necessary to try the issues in the main case. (T, 8-9)

Counsel would like to treat this totally self-serving statement as a waiver because it was not objected to. (A, 5-6) However, no response or active joinder was made by Perez or Sandy Bay's counsel. A procedural waiver or stipulation can not be implied by such silence. See <u>Miami Herald Publishing Co. v. Payne</u>, 358 So. 2d, 541, 542 (Fla. 1978) ("where the contention that a party's silence in response to the Court's suggestion could be construed as a stipulation was rejected") and see Fla. R. Jud. Admin., ("no 2.060(q) private agreement consent or between parties...concerning practice or procedure shall be of any force unless...in writing.")

code does not give rise to any vested rights. The code was amended in <u>1986</u>. (A, 28) Article 9 of the present code specifically provides that acts and events that have not yet been adjudicated will be regulated by prior law. (A, 37) Indeed, it was conceded that Venezuelan constitutional law prohibits retroactive application of the code to events occurring before 1986 because. (A, 35). The events involved in this <u>occurred in 1982</u>.

The matter of attorney's fees is governed by §174⁷, a section which was changed in 1986. Prior to 1986, the provision which was stated:

174. The party totally defeated in a proceeding either in trial or in a legal proceeding or in another incidence shall be obliged to pay costs. The court may exempt the party from same when it appears that the party has had reasonable motives to bring litigation (A-2, 32)

In 1986, the underlined provisions were eliminated. Nonetheless, both versions share the words "total defeat". This term does not have an equivalent in our law; its definition requires a view of Venezuelan law and its procedure. Under Venezuelan <u>procedure</u>, amendments to complaints do not exist once an answer is filed. (A, 40-41). This is important because the determination of whether a party has suffered a "total defeat" requires looking at the complaint and more particularly, the prayers for relief, referred to under Venezuelan law as petitioning prayers. (A, 39-40). A "total defeat" occurs where all of the

 $^{^7}$ The section of the code was mentioned by Financiera's counsel for the first time four days before the first session on the matter of fees. (A, 7)

petitioning prayers of the complaint have been granted. (A, 40) Thus, a party obtaining only one form of relief in a multi-prayer complaint does not "totally defeat" the other. (A, 40-41, 66). Then again, even if all prayers are granted, if the prevailing party obtains less than what he prayed for, a total defeat has not occurred. (A, 39-40, 66) For example, if the prayer requests "x" amount and the court awards "y", a party has not totally prevailed. (A, 12-13)

THE LAW UNDER THE PRE-1986 CODE

The pre-1986 code stated that even if total defeat occurred:

... the court may exempt the party from same when it appears that the party has had reasonable motives... to bring litigation.

This left a Venezuelan trial judge with something akin to discretion. One expert summarized the concept thus:

Consequently, what the code stated or mentioned was a reasonableness and this was subjective appreciation on the part of the judge. (A-2, 39)

Reasonable motives were equated with "rational motives". (A, 33) Perez and Sandy Bay's expert testified that the following reasons were sufficient to litigate: (1) that a case required an in depth analysis of particular sections of a code; (2) that the case required a hermeneutical analysis of an existing code section. (A, 64)

Both parties took the position that Venezuelan law determined the matter of prejudgment interest. The parties differ as to whether a particular section of the Venezuelan Commercial Code

applies. Inversiones Credival and Financiera asserted that Article 108 of the Commercial Code entitled them to prejudgment interest. Article 108 states:

> Mercantile debts of liquid and demandable sums of money rightfully accrue the current market interest, as long as the same does not expend twelve percent annually.

However, Section 108 applies only to <u>mercantile obligation</u>. (A-2, 45) The final judgment of the Court was clear in that it ordered the return of a profit. The judgment stated:

4. ...by virtue of this transaction, defendant Perez, by his own admission, made a personal profit of U.S. 12.5 million.

13. The Court also finds that the appropriate remedy, under the circumstances of this case, is to order the return of the U.S. \$12,500,000.00 in profit which Defendant Perez admitted he received from Sandy Bay transaction.

Inversiones Credival and Sociedad Financiera's expert, nonetheless, reached the confusing conclusion that the case involved a "mercantile debt" ⁹ in spite of his opinion that this case did not involve a commercial obligation, but which arose due to an

' Perez's expert treated the matter thus:

...the decision of the court was to give back a profit Perez-Sandoval made in this operation. so this is an obligation, and that obligation has a legal interest depending on whether it's commercial -- any obligation has a legal interest depending on whether it is commercial obligation or civil obligation. (A-3, 14)

⁸ The judgment, on its face, shows that the theory of liability against Perez and Sandy Bay was restitutionary in nature. The liability did not arise from a "demandable" sum such as that in a note.

infraction of the Banking Code. (A, 22) The trial court, nonetheless, ruled that (1) the plaintiffs were entitled to attorney's fees; (2) that Venezuelan law required Perez and Sandy Bay to pay such fees, (3) that Venezuelan law required the payment of interest.

POINTS ON APPEAL 10

I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN AWARDING ATTORNEY'S FEES WHERE THE BASIS FOR THE AWARD OF SUCH FEES WAS NOT PLED IN THE COMPLAINT

II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN AWARDING ATTORNEY'S FEES UNDER VENEZUELAN LAW WHERE ATTORNEY'S FEES WERE A REMEDIAL PART OF THE CASE AND THEREFORE PROCEDURAL IN NATURE TO BE DETERMINED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAW OF FLORIDA.

III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN AWARDING INTEREST ON THE BASIS OF VENEZUELAN LAW WHERE THE THEORY OF LIABILITY AGAINST PEREZ AND SANDY BAY DID NOT ARISE AS A MERCANTILE OBLIGATION WHICH WAS DEMANDABLE IN NATURE.

IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING A REMEDY WHICH RESCINDED THE SALE OF STOCK BY PEREZ AND SANDY BAY BUT WHICH DID NOT CONDITION SUCH JUDGMENT UPON THE DELIVERY OF THE STOCK DELIVERED IN THE SALE TO PEREZ AND SANDY BAY AND THUS DID NOT RESTORE THE PARTIES TO STATUS QUO ANTE

¹⁰ Where review is granted, the court can review and decide all the issues present in the case, <u>Bankers Multiple Life Ins. Co.</u> <u>v. Farish</u>, 464 So. 2d 530, 531, (Fla. 1985) ("Once we take jurisdiction because of conflict on one issue, we may decide all issues.") The case decided other issues and we have addressed them in this brief.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The award of attorney's fees predicated upon Venezuelan law was not prayed for in the complaint. Accordingly, it was error to enter such an award. Additionally, the record does not justify a waiver of the lack of such pleading.

Moreover, the trial court erroneously applied Venezuelan law because the matter of fees was a substantive matter in which Florida law should have applied. Florida law would not permit the award of fees in the case at bar.

The taxing of interest based upon a provision of the Venezuelan pertaining to mercantile obligations was not applicable to the proceedings at bar where the liability arose as from a concept of restitution.

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