WOOA

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 76,931

FILED SID J. WHITE JUN ? 1991 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

ON REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

JUAN VICENTE PEREZ SANDOVAL, et al. and

Petitioners,

v.

BANCO DE COMERCIO, C.A., et al.

Respondents.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

HILARIE BASS, ESQ. RAQUEL A. RODRIGUEZ, ESQ. GREENBERG, TRAURIG, HOFFMAN, LIPOFF, ROSEN & QUENTEL, P.A., Attorneys for Respondents 1221 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone: (305) 579-0500

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Stockman v. Downs, 573 So.2d 835 (Fla. 1991), does not require reversal of the trial court's award of attorneys' fees. In the instant case, Petitioners specifically acknowledged and stipulated that one of the issues for the trial court's consideration was "whether Venezuelan law provides that the prevailing party in this action is entitled to recover its fees and costs." [R. 459]. The entry into this Joint Stipulation makes it clear that all parties were on notice of and had agreed to the submission of this issue to the trial court, making irrelevant the issue of whether or not the Respondents' claim for fees was required to have been included in the Complaint.

Moreover, attorneys' fees are a substantive right and therefore subject to award under the law of the state whose law governs the substance of the action. Florida long ago abandoned the dichotomy between substantive rights and remedies when it adopted the Restatement (Second) of the Conflict of Laws. Accordingly, both the trial court and the District Court properly held

that Respondents were entitled to recover attorneys' fees under Venezuelan law.

Further, Respondents were entitled to an award of prejudgment interest under the Venezuelan Commercial Code. In its judgment for the Plaintiffs below, the trial court found that SANDOVAL and SANDY BAY had acted improperly by engaging in a number of illegal commercial transactions, including entering into an improper stock transaction, illegally borrowing money from SFC and obtaining guarantees of their private debt from CREDIVAL. Accordingly, under the applicable Venezuelan Commercial Code, any judgment of the trial court in Plaintiffs' favor also entitled them to obtain an award of pre-judgment interest at the rate established from time to time in that country's Official Gazette, not to exceed the rate of twelve percent (12%) per annum.

Finally, the trial court acted properly in refusing to order the return of the Anson shares to SANDOVAL and SANDY BAY. As recognized by the trial court, the appropriate award to Respondents as a consequence of Petitioners' misconduct was a ruling which (1) entitled them to receive back the \$12.5 million difference between what they paid for the Anson shares and the amount paid for those shares by SANDOVAL and (2) allowed them to retain the shares. The trial court's ruling allowing them to retain the shares was appropriate, since Respondents -- not Petitioners -- were the parties that either paid, or remain liable, for the original \$3.5 million purchase price of the shares. Accordingly, Respondents were entitled to retain the shares for which

they paid, as well as receive back from SANDOVAL the \$12.5 million amount by which they overpaid for the shares. To allow SANDOVAL to retain the shares for which he never paid would not only provide him with a windfall, but would also enable him to retain the benefits of this illegal transaction. More importantly, however, the overwhelming weight of the evidence established that SANDOVAL and SANDY BAY violated "good customs" under Venezuelan law, which, under the law of that country, exonerates Respondents from any duty to return the Anson shares. As the fruits of illegal conduct, the return of the shares to Petitioners would have been <u>inconsistent</u> with both Florida's and Venezuela's public policy against illegal contracts, since it would have allowed SANDOVAL and SANDY BAY to retain the benefit of their illicit bargain.

14

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED A POST-TRIAL MOTION FOR ATTORNEYS' FEES WHERE THE PARTIES HAD JOINTLY AGREED THAT SUCH ISSUE WOULD BE RESOLVED BY THE TRIAL COURT

Petitioners argue that Respondents' failure to plead an entitlement to attorneys' fees in their Complaint should bar recovery of fees, despite Petitioners' specific agreement in the Joint Stipulation that acknowledged and affirmed that the trial court <u>should</u> resolve the issue of Respondents' entitlement to recover attorneys' fees. Not only does such an argument appear ludicrous on its face, but it also fails to recognize that the facts of this case fall squarely within the exception expressly recognized by this Court in its recent opinion in <u>Stockman v. Downs</u>, 573 So.2d 835, 838 (Fla. 1991). In <u>Stockman</u>, this Court expressly noted:

> However, we recognize an exception to the rule announced today. Where a party has notice that an opponent claims entitlement to attorney's fees, and by its conduct recognizes or acquiesces to that claim or otherwise fails to object to the failure to plead entitlement, that party waives any objection to the failure to plead a claim for attorney's fees. See, e.q., Brown v. Gardens by the Sea S. Condo. Ass'n, 424 So.2d 181 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) (defendant's failure to raise entitlement to attorney's fees until after judgment not fatal to claim where issue of attorney's fees was raised at pretrial conference and plaintiff's pre-trial statement listed defendant's entitlement fees as an issue); Mainlands of Tamarac by Gulf Unit No. Four Ass'n, Inc. v. Morris, 388 So.2d 226 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980) (parties' stipulation during trial that the guestion of attorney's fees would be heard subsequent to final hearing would permit recovery of attorney's fees despite failure to plead entitlement to fees).

<u>Id</u>. at 838. What better notice could Petitioners have than executing and filing a Stipulation which specifically described this issue as one to be resolved at trial by the trial court judge?

This case presents facts similar to the situation in Brown v. Gardens by the Sea S. Condo. Ass'n, 424 So.2d 181 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), which was cited with approval by this Court in <u>Downs</u>. The prevailing party in <u>Brown</u> not only failed to plead a contractual right to fees in its answer, but it also failed to present formally its demand for fees for the first time until after entry of final judgment. <u>Id</u>. at 182. Despite these facts, however, the District Court determined in <u>Brown</u> that attorneys' fees were recoverable, because it was apparent that the parties were on notice of their opponent's claim for attorneys' fees, if success was achieved on the merits. In <u>Brown</u>, a pre-trial stipulation listed as an issue:

0

'Are any of the parties entitled to recovery of attorneys' fees and, if so, in what amount [?]'

<u>Id</u>. at 183. Furthermore, the trial court in <u>Brown</u> agreed, on the record, to reserve the issue of determining attorneys' fees until after resolution of the merits. <u>Id</u>.

In the instant case, the parties also specifically jointly stipulated that the trial court should consider and resolve the attorneys' fee issue. They submitted this issue:

> Whether Venezuelan law provides that the prevailing party in this action is entitled to recover its fees and costs.

[R. 459]. Moreover, just as in <u>Brown</u>, the Respondents here again raised the issue of attorneys' fees at the commencement of the trial:

Mr. Coffey: Your Honor, there are just a couple of preliminary matters I would like to refer to.

> Consistently with my understanding of Florida law, in the event this court determines, upon a determination of the issues in the main case, that either side is entitled to attorney's fees, it is my understanding that would be separately visited at that time and it won't be necessary to try the issues in the main case.

The Court: That will be reserved for future disposition.

[T. 8-9]. Petitioners' counsel never objected to the reservation of the issue for a later time.

The opinion of the District Court in <u>Brown</u>, in finding that the trial court should have awarded fees to the plaintiffs in that case, is equally applicable to the case at hand:

> It is manifest from the foregoing outline of events that appellees and the trial court at all pertinent times <u>knew</u>, recognized and acquiesced, without objection or suggestion of <u>surprise</u>, prejudice or disaccommodation, that appellants were claiming fees and the contract basis for the claim. . . As matters stood, appellants were affirmatively lulled into believing that their claim was known, alive and that the same would be adjudicated. Based on these facts, appellees should not be heard or permitted to now object to appellants' failure to formally plead.

424 So.2d at 183 (emphasis supplied).

Petitioners disingenuously suggest that the Stipulation that they signed and filed with the trial court was not a stipulation to "entitlement per se". [Initial Brief at 16.]. Clearly, that is not the relevant question. In the Brown case, approved by this Court, the stipulation there was not an admission by either side that the other party was "entitled" to recover attorneys' fees. Brown, 424 So.2d at 183. As here, that stipulation specifically reserved the question of entitlement to a later time. As recognized by this Court in Stockman, the real issue here is notice, not whether there was a demand for fees contained in the Stockman, 573 So.2d at 838. There is absolutely no Complaint. question that all parties here were on notice that the Plaintiffs intended to seek an award of attorneys' fees if they prevailed at Thus, under the exception to the pleading requirement trial. recognized by the Stockman decision, the trial court properly considered and granted Plaintiffs' post-trial motion for attorneys' fees under Venezuelan law.

II. VENEZUELAN LAW CONTROLS THE RIGHT TO COSTS AND ATTORNEYS' FEES, AND THE TRIAL COURT'S INTER-PRETATION OF ITS PROVISIONS WAS CORRECT

Petitioners next assert that the right to fees and costs is "procedural" and, therefore, to be decided under Florida law. They also argue that, even if Venezuelan law does apply, no attorneys' fees should have been awarded against them. As we shall see, however, Petitioners' arguments again are as misguided as they are misleading.

Once again, Petitioners ignore the Stipulation, under which the parties agreed that the trial court should decide the parties' entitlement to attorneys' fees under Venezuelan law. [R. 459]. The existence of the Stipulation effectively disposes of the choice-of-law issue. However, even if one were to ignore the Stipulation, as Petitioners apparently hope that this Court will do, Florida choice-of-law principles alone are sufficient to dictate the same conclusion reached by the trial court regarding the applicability of Venezuelan law. Furthermore, the trial court correctly determined that under Venezuelan law, Petitioners were entitled to an award of their fees.

A. The Right to Attorneys' Fees Is a Substantive Right.

Florida law recognizes that the right to attorneys' fees is a substantive right. <u>L. Ross, Inc. v. R.W. Roberts Construction</u> <u>Company, Inc.</u>, 481 So.2d 484 (Fla. 1986). As the Fourth District Court of Appeal has observed:

> The right to an attorney's fee is substantive because it gives to a party who did not have that right the legal right to recover substance (money!) from a party who did not theretofore have the legal obligation to render or pay that money. The right is not merely a new or different remedy to enforce an already existing right and is, for that reason, not merely procedural.

L. Ross, Inc. v. R.W. Roberts Construction Co., 466 So.2d 1096, 1098 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985), <u>aff'd</u>, 481 So.2d 484 (Fla. 1986). By virtue of the agreement in the Stipulation that the <u>substance</u> of

the dispute between the parties be governed by Venezuelan law, the substantive nature of attorneys' fees dictates that Venezuelan law regarding attorneys' fees control.

B. Choice-of-Law Principles Require the Application of Venezuelan Law.

The recognition by Florida courts of the substantive nature of attorneys' fees ends the analysis of the law regarding Petitioners' entitlement to recover such fees, since the parties' Stipulation required the trial court to apply Venezuelan law. Additionally, the Restatement (Second) Conflict of Laws generally provides that the classification or characterization of facts for inclusion in specific legal categories is determined in accordance with the law of the forum. Restatement (Second) Conflict of Laws § 7 [hereinafter Restatement (Second)]. Such categorization includes the determination whether an issue is "substantive" or "procedural" for choice-of-law purposes. See Restatement (Second) Thus, whether Venezuela itself § 7 comment d, illustration 2. characterizes the issue as "substantive" or "procedural" is irrelevant to this Court's analysis, since the law of the forum, Florida, considers attorneys' fees to be a substantive issue. Accordingly, since the trial court determined, and the parties stipulated, that Venezuelan law was to control the substantive issues in this case, the trial court had no choice but to apply Venezuelan law to determine Respondents' entitlement to obtain an attorney's fee award.

Further, even if one were to ignore the clear law in this regard, and assume the question was one of "procedure", the next step would be a choice-of-law analysis as to procedural issues. Such an analysis leads to the same result.

Even assuming, <u>arguendo</u>, that Venezuela chooses to treat the question of attorneys' fees and costs as one of judicial administration, prevailing choice-of-law principles dictate that a Florida court nevertheless apply Article 274 of the Venezuelan Code of Civil Procedure, which requires the award of "costs"^{3/} against the party that is "totally defeated". The Second Restatement describes the categories of issues that are considered "procedural" or "substantive" for choice-of-law purposes.^{4/} Generally, only issues relating to judicial administration are controlled by the local rules of the forum state. Restatement (Second) § 122. More specifically, the Second Restatement lists the following issues as "procedural":

- (1) Proper courts (§ 123);
- (2) Form of action (§ 124);
- (3) Service of process and notice (§ 126);
- (4) Pleading and conduct of proceedings (§ 127);
- (5) Pleading of set-offs, counterclaims or other defenses (§ 128);
- (6) Mode of trial (§ 129);
- (7) Obedience to the Court (§ 130);
- (8) Enforcement of judgments (§ 131);

^{3/} Under the Venezuelan Code of Civil Procedure, an award of costs is defined to include recovery for attorneys' fees.

^{4/} The Second Restatement wisely cautions against automatic categorization of issues as "substantive" or "procedural" and recommends, instead, that courts face directly the question of whether the forum's rule or the foreign state's rule should be applied. Restatement (Second) § 122 comment b.

- (9) Certain issues relating to burden of proof (§ 133);
- (10) Certain issues relating to going forward with the evidence and presumptions (§ 134);
- (11) Sufficiency of evidence (§ 135);
- (12) Notice and proof of foreign law (§ 136);
- (13) Witnesses (§ 137); and
- (14) Admissibility of evidence (§ 138).

In most of these instances, the local rules of the forum should govern, unless there is a reason why the rules of another state should be applied. The award of attorneys' fees and costs is notably absent from this listing.

In addition to the general listing of "procedural" issues, the Second Restatement also suggests the factors that a court should consider when in doubt as to whether the forum's local law should apply, rather than the local law of a foreign state.^{5/} These factors include:

- (1) whether the issue is one to which the parties are likely to have given thought in the course of entering into the transaction;
- (2) whether the issue is one whose resolution would be likely to affect the ultimate result of the case; $\frac{6}{2}$
- (3) whether the precedents have tended consistently to classify the issue as "procedural" or "substantive" for choice-of-law purposes; and

^{5/} By "local" law, the Second Restatement refers to the laws of a state without reference to its choice-of-law rules. Restatement (Second) § 4(1).

If so, the otherwise applicable law should be applied unless application of the local law of the forum is required by the dominant interest of the forum state in the decision of the particular issue." Restatement (Second) § 122 comment a.

(4) whether an effort to apply the rules of judicial administration of another state would impose an undue burden on the forum state.

Restatement (Second) § 122 comment a. An analysis of the abovestated factors leads to the conclusion that this Court should affirm the trial court's award of attorneys' fees against SANDOVAL and SANDY BAY in accordance with Venezuelan law.

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